#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

SU	PREME COURT
-	FILED/ 690
	(8.2535)
	DEC 2 7 2012

PARATRANSIT, INC. Respondent,

Frank A.	McGuire	Clerk
	Deputy	

V.

# UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE APPEALS BOARD Respondent,

CRAIG MEDEIROS
Appellant and Real Party in Interest.

After a decision of the Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District Case No. C063863

Appeal from a Judgment of the Superior Court, County of Sacramento Hon. Timothy M. Frawley, Presiding Case No. 34-2009-80000249

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Sarah R. Ropelato, State Bar No. 254848
Stephen E. Goldberg, State Bar No. 173499
Legal Services of Northern California
515 12<sup>th</sup> Street
Sacramento CA 95814
(916) 551-2150

#### I. INTRODUCTION

For thousands of California's workers, unemployment insurance benefits are all that separate them from poverty and homelessness while they search for work. The purpose of unemployment insurance is to ease the suffering caused by unemployment. In accordance with this purpose, courts have a mandate to interpret the Unemployment Insurance Code liberally to benefit the unemployed and the standards for eligibility are more generous than the standards for determining the legitimacy of discharge from employment.

A worker discharged from employment for misconduct is ineligible for unemployment insurance benefits. In this case, an employee, appellant Craig Medeiros, was found to have been terminated for misconduct for refusing to immediately sign a disciplinary notice that violated the terms of a Collective Bargaining Agreement ("CBA"). He did not sign the notice based on his concern that signing would be an admission and on his desire to speak to a union representative prior to complying with the employer's order to sign the notice at once. In so finding, the Court of Appeal majority applied the wrong standard for unemployment insurance eligibility, ignored established law, and failed to fulfill its duty to construe unemployment law to benefit unemployed workers.

Under long-standing precedent, determining whether an employee committed misconduct for not obeying an order requires analyzing whether the employer's order is lawful and reasonable. This includes determining of whether the order complies with the applicable employment contract. In the present case, the Court of Appeal majority refused to consider whether the employer's order to sign a disciplinary memorandum violated the plain language and intent of the CBA.

The Court of Appeal majority further erred by failing to consider whether Medeiros's action injured the employer, a requisite for finding misconduct. The majority also departed from well-established law evaluating whether Medeiros's action was a good faith error in judgment by using an objective standard based only on the terms of the employer's order. The court did not use the subjective standard required by this court's decision in *Amador v. California Unemployment Ins. Appeals Board* (1984) 35 Cal.3d 671, 683, which requires consideration of all of the circumstances Medeiros faced when he refused to immediately comply with the order to sign what he feared was an admission of wrongdoing.

The Court of Appeal's decision is based on incorrect standards for evaluating whether an employee committed misconduct and should be reversed.

#### II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. May an employee be found to have committed misconduct for purposes of Unemployment Insurance benefits by insubordination without a finding that the employer's order is lawful and reasonable?
- 2. Can an employer's order to sign a disciplinary memorandum stating signature was "as to receipt" be lawful and reasonable when the collective bargaining agreement required that disciplinary memoranda state signing is "only acknowledging receipt of said notice and is not admitting to any fault or to the truth of any statements in the notice" and when the employee expresses concern that signing would be an admission?
- 3. May an employee be found to have committed misconduct for purposes of Unemployment Insurance benefits without a finding that the employee's conduct harmed the employer's interest?
- 4. May good faith error in judgment for the purposes of eligibility for

  Unemployment Insurance benefits be limited to only those situations

  where an employee "in good faith fails to recognize the employer's

  directive is reasonable and lawful or otherwise reasonably believes he is

  not required to comply …" instead of considering all of the

  circumstances from the employee's perspective?

#### III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

This matter arose out of a writ of administrative mandate proceeding brought by Plaintiff and Respondent Paratransit, Inc., against the California Unemployment Insurance Appeals Board ("Board") to overturn the Board's decision granting unemployment benefits to Real Party in Interest and Appellant Craig Medeiros.

Medeiros was employed by Paratransit as a vehicle operator for approximately six years beginning in 2002. (*Paratransit*, *Inc. v. Unemployment Ins. Appeals Bd.* (2012) 206 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1319, 1322, review granted Sept. 26, 2012, S204221.) Medeiros was a union member. (*Ibid.*) His employment was governed by a CBA which required him to sign all disciplinary notices presented to him "provided that the notice states by signing, the Vehicle Operator is only acknowledging receipt of said notice and is not admitting to any fault or to the truth of any statements in the notice." (*Ibid.*)

On May 2, 2008 after he completed his shift, Medeiros was called into a meeting with Paratransit's representatives. (*Paratransit, Inc. v. Unemployment Ins. Appeals Bd., supra*, 206 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at p. 1322.)

Paratransit told Medeiros he was being disciplined based on a complaint made against him by a passenger. (*Ibid.*) During the meeting, Medeiros stated he disagreed with the allegations against him. (*Ibid.*) Medeiros asked that a union representative be present at the meeting. (*Ibid.*)

Medeiros also said he was tired after working a full day. (*Ibid.*) In addition, Medeiros said he was confused because the Paratransit representatives also discussed an incident about his hiring that occurred six years previously. (*Ibid.*)

The Paratransit representatives responded that Medeiros was not entitled to union representation. (*Paratransit, Inc. v. Unemployment Ins. Appeals Bd., supra*, 206 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at p. 1322.) Paratransit presented Medeiros with a memorandum stating he was being suspended for two days without pay because of the passenger's allegations. (*Ibid.*) Below the signature line, the disciplinary memorandum stated "Employee Signature as to Receipt." (*Id.* at p. 1323.)

In 2004, Mr. Medeiros had been given a disciplinary memorandum that he agreed to sign. (*Paratransit, Inc. v. Unemployment Insurance Appeals Bd., supra*, 206 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at p. 1322.) Unlike the 2008 memorandum, the 2004 memorandum stated "Employee Signature (as to receipt *only*)." (*Id.* at p. 1323 [emphasis added].)

In the May 2, 2008 meeting, Medeiros told the Paratransit representatives that the union president had advised him not to sign documents that could lead to discipline without a union representative present. (*Paratransit v. Unemployment Ins. Appeals Bd., supra*, 206 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at p. 1323.) He therefore did not want to sign anything without a union representative present. (*Ibid.*) He further stated that he

would not sign the disciplinary memorandum because he was concerned his signature could be an admission of the truth of the allegations. (*Id.* at pp. 1323, 1327; CT 473 [trial court finding].) Medeiros was also concerned that signing would mean he could not obtain union representation based on his understanding that other union members had been denied representation because they had signed disciplinary memoranda. (CT 473.)

During the meeting, the Paratransit representatives said Medeiros had to sign the disciplinary memorandum despite the fact that it did not state explicitly that signing was not an admission, as required by the CBA. (See *Paratransit, Inc. v. Unemployment Ins. Appeals Bd., supra*, 206 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at p. 1323.) The representatives told Medeiros he would be fired if he did not immediately sign the document. (*Ibid.*) Although the Paratransit representatives stated that signing was not an admission of the allegations in the memorandum, Medeiros remained concerned that signing could be deemed an admission. (*Id.* at pp. 1323, 1327.)

Accordingly, he "refused to sign the memo because he believed he should not sign anything without a union representative present." (*Id.* at p.1323.) He left the meeting saying he would consult with the union. (*Ibid.*)

Paratransit immediately fired him. (*Ibid.*)

#### IV. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Upon termination of his employment, Medeiros applied for unemployment benefits with the Employment Development Department ("EDD"), which denied his application. (See Paratransit, Inc. v. Unemployment Insurance Appeals Bd., supra, 206 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at p. 1323.) Medeiros appealed, and the Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") affirmed EDD's decision. (Ibid.) Mr. Medeiros then appealed to the Board, which overturned the ALJ's decision. The Board found Medeiros was discharged for reasons other than misconduct and was not disqualified from benefits because his failure to sign the disciplinary document was at most a simple mistake in light of "the admonition given by the union president not to sign, the lack of clarifying language near the signature line, and the denial of [his] request for union representation." (Id. at p. 1324.) Paratransit then filed a Petition for Administrative Mandamus, which was granted by the trial court. (*Id.* at p. 1324.)

On May 31, 2012, the Third Appellate District affirmed the superior court's order granting Paratransit's Petition. (*Paratransit*, *Inc. v. Unemployment Ins. Appeals Bd., supra*, 206 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at p. 1321.) Justice Blease dissented. (*Id.* at p. 1333.) On July 3, 2012, Medeiros's Petition for Rehearing was denied.

٠.

Mr. Medeiros timely petitioned for review on July 23, 2012.

On September 26, 2012, this Court granted review.

#### V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Where, as here, the trial court exercised its independent judgment on the challenged administrative action, the appellate standard of review is whether the findings are supported by "substantial, credible and competent evidence." (*Amador v. Unemployment Ins. Appeals Bd., supra,* 35 Cal.3d at p. 679.) However, "where the probative facts are not in dispute, and those facts clearly require a conclusion different from that reached by the trial court, . . . the latter's conclusions may be disregarded." (*Id.*)

Further, deference is not required where an improper legal standard has been applied. (Sanchez v. Unemployment Ins. Appeals Bd. (1984) 36

Cal.3d 575, 585 [holding trial court relied on flawed standard of good cause noting that cause was an issue of law].) Similarly, independent or de novo review is appropriate for questions of law. (Ghirardo v. Antonioli (1994) 8

Cal.4th 791, 799; see also Lacy v. California Unemployment Ins. Appeals

Bd. (1971) 17 Cal.App.3d, 1128, 1134.) A question of law is one requiring the "application of a legal principle or rule to undisputed facts." (Lacy, id., p. 1134.) The interpretation of a writing is a question of law, unless interpretation turns on conflicting extrinsic evidence presented to the lower court. (Parsons v. Bristol Develop. Co. (1965) 62 Cal.2d 861, 865–866; see also Steiner v. Thaxton (2010) 48 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 411, 417 n.7.) In the present case,

there is no ambiguity in the CBA, and no extrinsic evidence about the CBA's meaning was introduced.

#### VI. STATUTORY FRAMEWORK

Pursuant to Unemployment Insurance Code Section 1256, an individual is disqualified from unemployment benefits if "he or she left his or her most recent work voluntarily without good cause or . . . he or she has been discharged for misconduct connected with his or her most recent work." (Unemp. Ins. Code § 1256.)

California regulations outline four elements that must be present to find misconduct:

- the claimant owed a material duty to the employer
- the claimant substantially breached that duty
- the breach was a "wanton or willful disregard of that duty"
- the breach disregarded "the employer's interest and injures or tends to injure the employer's interests." (22 Cal. Code Regs. § 1256-30(b).)

California courts have further specified that "good faith errors in judgment" are not misconduct. (*Maywood Glass Co. v. Stewart* (1959) 170 Cal.App.2d 719, 724.)

This Court has laid out the analytical framework where there is an allegation of misconduct for refusing to follow an employer's order as: 1) whether the order is lawful and reasonable; 2) whether the employee's

conduct evinces a willful or wanton disregard of the employer's interests that injures the employer's interests; and 3) whether the employee's actions were simply good faith errors in judgment. (*Amador v. Unemployment Ins. Appeals Bd., supra,* 35 Cal.3d at p. 678-79.)

#### VII. ARGUMENT

The Legislature has declared the purpose of unemployment insurance benefits is to reduce the suffering caused by unemployment. (Unempl. Ins. Code § 100.) In view of that objective, it is the duty of the courts to construe unemployment insurance law to benefit persons who are unemployed. (Amador v. Unemployment Ins. Appeals Bd., supra, 35 Cal.3d at p. 683; Gibson v. Unemployment Ins. Appeals Bd. (1973) 9 Cal.3d 494, 499.) The Court of Appeal majority breached that duty by disregarding the proper analysis with respect to whether an employee has engaged in misconduct for the purposes of eligibility for unemployment benefits. Specifically, the Court of Appeal erred by: 1) finding that Medeiros had a duty to obey an order to sign a disciplinary memorandum that violated the CBA and failed to protect him against the inference that signing admitted the truth of the allegations in the memorandum; 2) failing to require proof of injury to the employer from Medeiros's actions; and 3) applying the wrong standard to evaluate whether Medeiros simply made a good faith error in judgment.

- A. THE COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN FINDING MEDEIROS HAD A DUTY TO OBEY THE EMPLOYER'S UNLAWFUL AND UNREASONABLE ORDER.
  - 1) An employee does not have a duty to obey an order that violates a CBA because such an order is unreasonable as a matter of law.

Pursuant to 22 Cal. Code Regs. Section 1256-30(b), in determining whether an employee committed misconduct, the first element that must be considered is whether the employee owed a material duty to the employer. Employees have a duty to comply with lawful and reasonable orders of the employer and it is misconduct to refuse to obey such an order without justification. (22 Cal. Code Regs. § 1256-36(b)(1); see *Yamaha Corp of America v. State Bd. of Equalization* (1998) 19 Cal. 4th 1,7 [administrative regulations are binding].) Employees do not have a duty to follow orders that are not lawful or reasonable. (22 Cal. Code Regs. § 1256-36(b)(1)(B-E).)

An employer who opposes an employee's application for unemployment insurance benefits on the ground of misconduct has the initial burden to establish that the employee violated a *reasonable* order.

(Amador v. Unemployment Ins. Appeals Bd., supra, 35 Cal.3d at p. 680 n.7 [emphasis added].) Accordingly, the threshold question when the alleged misconduct is failure to obey an employer's order is whether that order was lawful and reasonable. Absent a reasonable order, there is no duty to comply and it is not misconduct to disobey such an order. (Thornton v.

Department of Human Resources Development (1973) 32 Cal.App.3d 180, 185; Lacy v. California Unemployment Ins. Appeals Bd., supra, 17 Cal.App.3d at p. 1132.)

Moreover, where there is an express employment contract or CBA, the reasonableness of the order depends on whether it is consistent with that contract. It is a well-settled principle that an employee has a duty to obey all reasonable orders of the employer that are "not inconsistent with the [employment] contract." (May v. New York Motion Picture Corp. (1920) 45 Cal.App. 396, 402-403 (1920); Moosa v. State Personnel Board (2002) 102 Cal.App.4th 1379, 1387.) In May v. New York Motion Picture Corp, the court evaluated a wrongful discharge claim of an actress terminated for disobeying an order to appear at the studio at a prescribed time. (May, id., 45 Cal.App. at pp. 398-401.) The court established a two-step analysis, asking first whether or not the order is consistent with the contract, and then "if it is," whether the order was reasonable under the circumstances. (Id. at p.405.) Although May involved wrongful discharge, the Board has relied on it in evaluating insubordination for the purposes of determining eligibility for unemployment insurance benefits. (Matter of Anderson (1968) P-B-3 at p. 6; see Pacific Legal Foundation v. California Unemployment Ins. Appeals Bd. (1981) 29 Cal.3d 101, 111 [Board view of statute or regulation it interprets entitled to great weight]; see also Yamaha Corp. v. State Bd. Of Equalization, supra, 19 Cal.4th at pp. 11-12

[administrative interpretive decisions are entitled to deference].) Thus, the initial inquiry under *May* is whether the order is consistent with an applicable employment contract.

This rule has likewise been applied to termination for not following an order that violated the terms of a CBA. (*Moosa v. State Personnel Bd.*, *supra*, 102 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at p. 1387.) In *Moosa*, a professor was demoted for refusing to comply with a dean's order to develop a teaching improvement plan. (*Id.* at p. 1383.) The Court of Appeal held that the professor had no duty as a matter of law to obey the order because it violated the terms of the CBA. (*Id.* at p.1387.)

Although *Moosa* involved discharge under the Education Code, the focus of the analysis was whether there is a duty to obey the order under general employment law principles and more specifically, whether the order exceeded the "normal *and reasonable* duties of his position." (*Moosa v. State Personnel Bd., supra,* 102 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at p. 1385 [emphasis added].) While neither *May* nor *Moosa* involved unemployment insurance

The *Moosa* court rejected the argument that an employee's only remedy when an order is unreasonable or violates the employment contract or CBA is to obey and file a grievance. *Moosa* stated that the argument is unsupported by any California law. (*Moosa* v. *State Personnel Bd.*, *supra*, 102 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at pp. 1386-87.) The argument is also contrary to the settled rule that there is no duty to comply with an order that is inconsistent with a contract and to the principle that there can be good cause for noncompliance. (*Id.*; accord Rabago v. Unemployment Ins. Appeals Bd. (1978) 84 Cal.App.3d 200, 214 [mere existence of union grievance

claims, the rationale in both applies when, as here, the issues involve an employee's duty to obey and the reasonableness of an employer's order where an employment contract or CBA governs the terms of the relationship.

That rationale is further supported by other general labor law principles and Board decisions. The terms of a CBA are binding on both employers and employees. (Douglas Aircraft Corp. v. California Unemployment Ins. Appeals Bd. (1960) 180 Cal.App.2d 636, 646.) As such, CBAs govern the terms of employment relationship. (J.I. Case Co. v. National Labor Relations Board (1944) 321 U.S. 332, 335.) Individual employees are protected by CBAs and can enforce their terms. (National Labor Relations Board v. City Disposal Systems (1984) 465 U.S. 822, 832.)

In the same vein, the Board has recognized the relevance of the CBA when analyzing whether an employee has good cause to refuse offered work. (*Matter of Gertler* (1951) P-B-321 at pp.2-3.)<sup>2</sup> Thus, the CBA is relevant to the analysis of what duties employees owe and what

procedure does not require employee to comply with employer's order as a condition of unemployment insurance eligibility].)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In *Matter of Ludlow* (1976) P-B-190, the Board found misconduct where a union employee refused an order to perform duties he believed were outside of his job description. *Ludlow* is inapplicable and highly distinguishable. The Board in *Ludlow* did not mention a CBA in the decision nor was there any indication that the order was in any way inconsistent with the agreement. Here, the order violated the express terms of the collective bargaining agreement. As such, *Ludlow* is not instructive on this point.

orders employers may give not only in the context of employment law generally, but in the context of unemployment insurance as well.

To apply a different rationale in unemployment insurance cases evaluating alleged misconduct or to find the terms of a CBA irrelevant would put unemployment insurance law out of step with long-standing employment and labor law principles. This would harm workers throughout California by forcing them to submit to orders that breach protections provided by CBAs or face unemployment without benefits needed to house, feed, and clothe their families.

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