IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PARATRANSIT, INC.

Plaintiff and Respondent,

VS.

UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE APPEALS BOARD

Defendant;

SUPREME COURT FILED

CRAIG H. MEDEIROS,

Real Party in Interest and Appellant.

MAR 29 2013

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District Court Case No. C063863

Deputy

Appeal from a Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California, County of Sacramento Honorable Timothy M. Frawley, Judge Case No. 34-2009-80000249

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

Appellant attempts to bring his case within the scope of *Moosa v. State Personnel Bd.* (2002) 102 Cal.App.4th 1379, 1386 ("*Moosa*"), which held that *public employees* may refuse to obey an order of their superiors if they have a "legitimate reason" or "valid excuse" for their refusal. *Moosa* is not instructive here. In *Moosa*, a public employee professor was demoted pursuant to Education Code section 89535, which in pertinent part provides for such a demotion in the event of "unprofessional conduct" and/or "failure or refusal to perform the normal and reasonable duties of the position." (*Moosa, supra*, 102 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1383-1385; Education Code, § 89535, subds. (b), (f).) Pursuant to its interpretation of the terms "unprofessional conduct" and "normal and reasonable duties of the position" as used within Education Code section 89535, the *Moosa* court determined that the statute did not authorize the demotion of a *public*

employee professor who fails to follow an order not authorized by the applicable CBA. (*Moosa*, *supra*, 102 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1385-1387, emphasis added.)

The matter before this Court does not implicate Education Code section 89535. Nor are the terms "unprofessional conduct" and "normal and reasonable duties of the position" at issue. Indeed, in *Ludlow*, the CUIAB specifically found that "misconduct" under Unemployment Insurance Code section 1256 encompasses more than simply the normal duties of an employment position, but also includes any direction that might extend beyond the scope of the position, so long as the order is not unlawful or unreasonable. (CT 122-123 [*Ludlow*, *supra*, P-B-190 at pp. 3-4].)

In sum, following Moosa a "public employee may refuse to follow an order of his or her superiors if he or she has a legitimate reason or a valid excuse for the refusal." (Moosa, supra, 102 Cal.App.4th 1379, pp. 1386-1387.) Moosa concerned a challenge to a demotion before the State Personnel Board; it did not concern an unemployment insurance benefits determination before the CUIAB. A private employee, such as Appellant, is subject to Labor Code section 2856 which explicitly provides "[a]n employee shall substantially comply with all the directions of his employer concerning the service on which he is engaged, except where such obedience is impossible or unlawful, or would impose new and unreasonable burdens upon the employee." (Lab. Code, § 2856 [emphasis added].) Whereas the instant matter concerns the interpretation of the term "misconduct" under Unemployment Insurance Code section 1256 for private employees, not "unprofessional conduct" or "normal and reasonable duties of the position" for public employee professors under Education Code section 89535, Moosa is inapplicable to the resolution of the instant

matter. Rather, Labor Code section 2856, *Ludlow*, and *Gant*, control the analysis.

Appellant argues that failing to extend the holding of *Moosa* beyond public employees and the Education Code to private employees would put unemployment insurance law out of step with long standing employment and labor law principles, thereby harming workers by forcing them to either follow orders that breach CBAs or face unemployment without benefits. (AOB at p. 15.) Appellant misunderstands the role CBAs play in labor law, and the protections employees are afforded by grievance procedures. Providing remedies for breaches of a CBA is the precise purpose for including grievance procedures in a CBA. (See generally *Hughes Tool Co. v. NLRB* (5th Cir. 1945) 147 F.2d 69, 73 [collective bargaining agreements include grievance procedures as an orderly and just method for redressing work place conditions].)

Relying on *Rabago v. Unemployment Ins. Appeals Bd.* (1978) 84 Cal.App.3d 200, 214 ("*Rabago*"), Appellant downplays the significance of grievance procedures, and argues that the mere existence of such a procedure does not require an employee to comply with an employer's order as a condition for unemployment insurance benefit eligibility. The grievance procedure in *Rabago* is not instructive here. There, the court found that the "skimpy record in this case was wholly inadequate" to support a conclusion that the grievance procedure "was an appropriate or feasible alternative for [the employee] in the circumstances of his complaints and nature of his employment." (*Rabago*, supra, 84 Cal.App.3d at p. 214.) The court further noted that the record contained the "barest references" to the existence of a grievance procedure, and did not indicate whether appellant was even familiar with said procedure. (*Ibid.*) After being terminated in 2002 due misrepresenting his criminal record on his application for employment, Appellant filed a grievance regarding his

termination. (*Paratransit*, *supra*, 206 Cal.App.4th at p. 1322; CT 45) Appellant was subsequently reinstated after informing Respondent's executive director that his misstatement of his criminal record arose from a domestic dispute, and the grievance was withdrawn. (CT 45.) Compliance with a grievance procedure is not required for unemployment insurance eligibility, but it is an appropriate alternative to refusing to obey a reasonable order.

Parties to a CBA negotiate a grievance procedure to provide the appropriate means for determining whether the agreed upon CBA terms have been violated. Due to the protections afforded by grievance procedures, an employee who believes an employer order violates the terms of the CBA can seek full recourse for the violation through the grievance procedure. (See CT 122-123; Ludlow, supra, P-B-190 at pp. 3-4 [CUIAB "has consistently adhered to the view that deliberate disobedience of lawful and reasonable instructions is misconduct and that if employees doubt the reasonableness or legality of supervisors' instructions, they should seek grievance elsewhere. [Citations.]".) Even in the event that an employee is terminated, he could still pursue the grievance and arbitration procedure and be reinstated to his job if his contentions were correct and the CBA was in fact violated. Here, Appellant invoked the grievance procedure under the CBA to be reinstated in connection with a previous matter (CT 45, 122-123), and could have done the same in 2008.

Finally, Appellant's proposition would set a harmful precedent because an employee would be excused from following any order that he believes violated the CBA, however technical the violation, without utilizing the grievance procedure. This would eliminate the agreed upon and bargained for grievance and arbitration provisions in the CBA. If every direction from an employer could be challenged in this manner, it would grind business to a halt. The policy behind labor agreements is to work

now, grieve later. (See Elkouri & Elkouri, How Arbitration Works (7th ed. 2012) §5A, p. 16-31 ["It is a well-established principle that employees (1) must obey management's orders and carry out their job assignments, even if such assignment are believed to violate the agreement; and (2) then turn to the grievance procedure for relief"]; *Krist Oil Co.* (1999) 328 NLRB 108, at p. *6 ["[T]he principle of 'work now, grieve later'...is the accepted industrial norm...that if an employee is working, and there is a claim of employer misconduct directed at her, the employee should continue to work, make the claim, and subsequently receive a remedy for any proven misconduct."].)

b. The Court of Appeal implicitly found that Appellant had a duty to comply with the order to sign the 2008 disciplinary memorandum.

Appellant contends that the Appellate Court "improperly evaded" the issue of whether he had a duty to comply with the order to sign the 2008 disciplinary memorandum. (AOB at p. 16.) That Appellant disagrees with the decision of the Court of Appeal does not mean that the Appellate Court failed in its inquiry. Appellant's contention is unavailing for the following reasons.

First, contrary to Appellant's assertions, the Court of Appeal did not ignore the question of whether Appellant had a duty to sign the 2008 disciplinary memorandum. (See *Paratransit*, *supra*, 206 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1327-1328.) To the extent that Appellant contends that the Court of Appeal was required to make an express finding as to whether order to sign the 2008 disciplinary memorandum was reasonable, Appellant is mistaken because such a finding is implicit in the *Paratransit* decision. (*Richter v. Walker* (1951) 36 Cal.2d 634, 640; *Thornton v. Dept. of Human Resources Development* (1973) 32 Cal.App.3d 180, 186 ["*Thornton*"] [implicit finding of that an order was reasonable may be permissible].) When Court of

Appeal found that the order to sign the 2008 disciplinary memorandum not "new and unreasonable," it implicitly found the order to be reasonable. (*Paratransit*, *supra*, 206 Cal.App.4th at p. 1327.) Second, as set forth herein above in POINT I.a., *supra*, the threshold issue of whether Appellant had a duty to sign the disciplinary memorandum is not controlled by the CBA, but by the nature of the order itself, which Appellant did not argue would impose a new or unreasonable burden beyond failing to track the exact language of the CBA. (*Id.* at p. 1327.)

Third, contrary to Appellant's assertions, the Court of Appeal did not speculate as to what would happen if the Appellant had been presented with a disciplinary memorandum that he could not later contend technically violated the CBA. (See AOB at p. 17.) Rather, the Court of Appeal evaluated the factual record. Appellant refused to sign the 2008 disciplinary memorandum because he claimed his union president advised him not to sign any documents outside the presence of a union representative. (CT 52-72; Paratransit, supra, 206 Cal.App.4th at p. 1327.) Appellant did not voice concerns that the 2008 disciplinary memorandum did not comply with the CBA, nor ask that the language of the 2008 disciplinary memorandum be changed. (CT 52-72; Paratransit, supra, 206 Cal.App.4th at p. 1327 ["There is no indication he was even aware of the terms of the CBA."].) Rather than asking if Appellant would have complied with the order to sign the 2008 disciplinary memo if the language contained therein was different, the Court of Appeals properly focused on Appellant's unequivocal reason given for refusing to obey the order. Such is not speculation or conjecture, but rather relevant to Appellant's subjective belief, as set forth herein below in POINT III, infra. To the extent that the facts underlying Appellant's refusal to sign the 2008 disciplinary memorandum are disputed, the Court of Appeal's credibility

determination and decision is entitled to deference. (*Ghirardo v. Antonioli*, *supra*, 8 Cal.4th at p. 798.)

Finally, contrary to the Appellant's arguments, the Court of Appeal did not hold that Appellant should have explicitly stated that the order to sign 2008 disciplinary memorandum violated a specific provision of the CBA. (AOB at p. 17.) For this argument, Appellant relies on *National Labor Relations Board v. City Disposal Systems, Inc.* (1984) 465 U.S. 822, 837 ["City Disposal"], which according to Appellant, holds that an employee is not expressly required to refer to a CBA in order to protect his rights under the CBA. City Disposal does not, however, support Appellant's position.

Under City Disposal, where an employee complains of a violation of a CBA, the complaint is reasonably clear to the person to whom it is communicated, and the complaint refers to a reasonably perceived violation of a CBA, the complaining employee is enforcing the CBA and need not explicitly refer to the CBA. (City Disposal, supra, 465 U.S. at p. 840.) City Disposal is inapposite for the following reasons. First, there is no indication that Appellant complained that the 2008 disciplinary memorandum violated the CBA. (CT 52-72.) Likewise, there is no indication that Appellant was even aware of the provision of the CBA he now claims to have been allegedly attempting to enforce. (Paratransit, supra, 206 Cal.App.4th at p. 1327.) Rather, to the extent that Appellant voiced a complaint regarding the order to sign the 2008 disciplinary memorandum, said complaint referred to a perceived violation of his Weingarten rights. Appellant requested a union representative and refused to sign anything without one. (CT 16, 30, 53, 52-72.) Appellant's refusal to sign anything without a union representative present was based on a card that specifically articulated his Weingarten rights. (Paratransit, supra, 206 Cal. App. 4th at p. 1331.) Weingarten rights are a creation of case law, and

distinct from CBAs. (Weingarten, supra, 420 U.S. 251 at p. 254 [union employee has a right to have a union representative present during any discussion that could lead to discipline, termination, or an effect on working conditions].) Moreover, Weingarten rights were not implicated by the May 2, 2008 meeting during which Medeiros was presented with the 2008 disciplinary memorandum because the investigation had already concluded. (Ibid; Paratransit, supra, 206 Cal.4th at pp. 1322-1323.) Accordingly, Appellant's complaint that he would not sign anything without union representative present, and his retroactive attempt to invoke the protections of Weingarten, do not amount to a "reasonably perceived violation" of a CBA. (City Disposal, supra, 465 U.S. at p. 840.) Requesting union representation is not synonymous with complaining of a perceived violation of a CBA. Accordingly, City Disposal is not instructive in the present matter.

c. California contract law has no bearing on interpretation of the collective bargaining agreement, and the Labor Management Relations Act precludes this Court from interpreting the collective bargaining agreement.

Appellant argues he must be absolved of his misconduct because the 2008 disciplinary memorandum violates the language of the CBA. (AOB at p. 20.) Appellant's argument substantially depends upon interpretation of the terms of the CBA governing disciplinary notices. (*Ibid.*) Appellant scrutinizes the CBA through reference to California contract law, and in doing so ignores the well-established rules governing the interpretation and enforcement of CBAs. It is not the purview of a state court to determine whether the terms of a CBA were violated.

First, to the extent Appellant argues that the express terms of the CBA did not require him to sign the 2008 disciplinary memorandum, Appellant relies upon California Civil Code sections 1638, 1639 and 1644

and assorted case law. (AOB at p. 20.) This is not proper. Simply put, federal law preempts the use of state contract law in CBA interpretation and enforcement. (*Local 174, Teamsters of Am. v. Lucas Flour Co.* (1962) 369 U.S. 95, 103-104 ["*Local 174*"].)

Second, section 301 of the Labor Management Relations Act, codified at 29 U.S.C.S. §185, both preempts claims substantially dependent upon the terms of a collective bargaining agreement and precludes state courts from interpreting the provisions of a CBA. (*Cramer v. Consolidated Freightways, Inc.* (9th Cir. 2001) 255 F.3d 683, 689.) This Court accordingly lacks jurisdiction over interpretation of the CBA. (See *Valles v. Hill* (9th Cir. Cal. 2005) 410 F.3d 1071, 1075 [section 301 preemption is jurisdictional, and extends to issues of law "substantially dependent" upon analysis of the terms of a collective bargaining agreement].) However, as demonstrated in POINT I.a., *supra*, interpretation of the CBA is not necessary to the resolution of the issues before this Court because the order to sign the 2008 disciplinary memorandum was itself lawful and reasonable and implicated Appellant's duty to comply.

Appellant's argument that he had no duty to obey the reasonable order of his employer based upon a technical violation of the CBA substantially depends upon interpretation of the terms of the CBA. Such an argument is not properly before this Court, and the state contract law cited to by Appellant has no bearing on the interpretation of the CBA. (AOB at p. 20; *Local 174*, *supra*, 369 U.S at pp. 103-104.) In sum, under the federal principles of labor law, CBA interpretation is for an arbitrator and not this Court. (See *Livadas v. Bradshaw* (1994) 512 U.S. 107, 121; *Lingle v. Norge Division, Magic Chef* (1988) 486 U.S. 399 [dispute

⁴ To the extent that Respondent did not argue such below, it is incontestable that lack of jurisdiction may be raised at *any* stage of the proceedings. (*Barnick v. Longs Drug Stores* (1988) 203 Cal.App.3d 377, 379.)

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